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Introduction 
The Research Ranch, near Elgin in Santa Cruz County, Arizona, is administered 
by the National Audubon Society.  It consists of about 8000 acres of federal and 
private lands, that are managed for ecosystem research projects by the National 
Audubon Society, which has cooperative agreements with the federal land 
management agencies.   
 
This summary of the early history of land settlement of the Research Ranch area 
and some of the subsequent land transactions is taken primarily from information 
in the land records of the U. S. Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and the 
Arizona State Land Department.     
 
This report has been prepared for Research Ranch Director Linda Kennedy by 
Glendon E. Collins, a retired BLM and Arizona State Land Department employee, 
and member of the Arizona BLM Resource Advisory Council. 
 
 
Settlement of the Research Ranch Area  
The area that was to become the Research Ranch was first occupied by Native 
Americans who were gradually displaced in the 1700s and early 1800s by 
explorers from Mexico who were seeking new lands, riches, and converts to 
Christianity.  The first official record of land ownership in what is now eastern 
Santa Cruz County is the San Ignacio del Babocomari  Grant.  This Spanish land 
grant lies along the Babocomari River valley south of the present day community 
of Elgin.  The land grant was issued by authorities in Spain in 1821, to help 
solidify Spanish and Mexican claims to the area. 
 
In the Gadsden Purchase of 1853, the United States acquired a large block of 
land from Mexico to provide a non-mountainous route for a railroad to connect 
the California coast with the eastern half of the country.  The Gadsden Purchase 
added all of the lands south of the Gila River to what was then the New Mexico 
Territory.    
 
In 1863, Congress divided the New Mexico Territory by creating a separate 
Arizona Territory.  In 1864, the first Arizona Territorial Legislature created four 
original Counties, with Pima County covering  all of southeastern Arizona.  Santa 
Cruz County was carved out of Pima County in 1899, by the Arizona Legislature.  
 
After the Civil War, the U. S. Army was sent to southern Arizona Territory to help 
resolve the conflicts between the Apaches and the white settlers that were 
moving into the area.  When the Apache wars ended in the 1880’s, ranchers from 
Texas began bringing herds of cattle to feed on the good grasslands in southern 
Arizona.  The ranchers stayed, and built homes and ranches on the federal 
public domain lands.  However, they couldn’t get title to “their” lands, because the 
federal lands had not yet been surveyed.  The federal government could not 
issue land patents (deeds) until land surveys were made to describe the land 
parcels to put into the land patents. 



 
 

 
 

 
The federal land surveys in this area were finally done in the early 1900s.  This 
enabled the ranchers and farmers who were living along the O’Donnell and 
Turkey Creek drainages to get homestead patents during the 1912 - 1925 period.  
During that same period, the  Arizona State Land Department used its State 
Trust Land entitlements to select the federal grazing lands that surrounded the 
homesteads. 
 
By 1960, the Appleton family had purchased some of the homesteaded lands in 
the O’Donnell and Turkey Creek area. The Appleton family established the 
Research Ranch in 1969. The National Audubon Society assumed management 
of the Research Ranch  in 1980. 
    
During the 1960 - 1990 period, there were a series of land transactions involving 
the private land owners, the U. S. Bureau of Land Management, the U. S. Forest 
Service, and the Arizona State Land Department.  These actions rearranged the 
private and public land ownerships in the area and took other measures to 
facilitate the purposes of the Research Ranch.  In 2000, Congress included the 
BLM lands in the Research Ranch area in the Las Cienegas National 
Conservation Area that was established by Public Law 106-538. 
 
 
Federal Land Surveys and Federal Land Records 
The first federal land survey in the Research Ranch area was done in June 1902, 
to establish the boundaries of the San Ignacio del Babocomari Grant.  This 
“Spanish Land Grant” was recognized as pre-existing private land when 
Congress established the Arizona Territory in 1863.  The federal land survey was 
done to identify the boundaries of these private lands which were not available 
for homesteading by the settlers who were moving into the Arizona Territory.  
The survey was done by cadastral land surveyors working for the federal General 
Land Office, which was the predecessor of the U. S. Bureau of Land 
Management.   
 
Ten years later, in 1912, the federal cadastral land surveyors returned to the area 
to survey the federal public domain lands located south of the San Ignacio del 
Babocomari Grant.  Their job was to survey the federal lands into townships and 
sections so that the federal lands could be homesteaded and patented to 
citizens, many of whom were already living on these federal lands.   
 
This cadastral land survey produced Fractional Township 21 South, Range 18 
East (T 21 S, R 18 E).  Attachment 1  is a copy of this township survey which 
was approved on November 14, 1914.  It is called a “Fractional Township” 
because most of the 12 sections in the northern third of T 21 S, R 18 E were not 
surveyed since they were private lands in the San Ignacio del Babocomari Grant.  
Only a tiny sliver of federal land in Sections 7, 8, 9 and 10 still exists along the 
southern boundary of the Grant. 
 



 
 

 
 

The boundaries of the Appleton-Whittell Research Ranch, as shown on 
Attachment 2 , encompass all or parts of Sections 14,15,16, 17, 20, 21, 22, 23, 
26, 27, 28, 34, and 35 of T 21 S, R 18 E, along with parts of Sections 2 and 3 of 
the adjacent Township  22 South, Range 18 East. 
 
The General Land Office, an agency in the Department of the Interior, 
administered the system for recording homestead and other entries, land 
patents, withdrawals, designations, and dispositions of the federal lands 
described in the cadastral surveys.   The General Land Office was merged with 
the federal Grazing Service in 1946 to form a new agency, the U. S. Bureau of 
Land Management. 
 
These federal land records are represented today by the Master Title Plats and 
accompanying Historical Indexes that are on file in each of the BLM Offices.  
Attachment 3  is a copy of the BLM’s Master Title Plat (MTP) for T 21 S, R 18 E.  
Attachment 4  is a copy of the Supplemental MTP which was prepared for 
Section 27 in the Township. 
 
The information on the Master Title Plat and Historical Index of T 21 S, R 18 E 
shows the historical record of the land transactions and events that have 
occurred over the past 96 years to transfer lands in this area from federal to 
State and private ownership and then, in some cases, back to federal ownership.  
The number listed at the bottom of each land parcel on the MTPs is the key to 
the land patent and reconveyance documents.   
 
 It is important to understand that these federal Master Title Plats show the 
homestead, public sale and land exchange transactions which transferred 
the public domain lands out of federal ownership.  Once the land has been 
transferred out of federal ownership, the chain of title information is 
recorded and is available in the Santa Cruz County Records.   This report 
does not include information on these subsequent transactions.  
 
  
The National Forest is Established (1905 - 1910)  
The National Forest System in Arizona was initiated in the early 1900’s with the 
establishment of “Forest Reserves” on the large blocks of forested federal lands.  
In southern Arizona, most of the federal lands at the higher elevations were 
withdrawn into Forest Reserves.  Originally, all of the federal lands in T 21 S, R 
18 E were included in the first Forest Reserve in this area.   
 
The first notation on the Historical Index records of T 21 S, R 18 E occurred in 
1905, when all of the federal lands in this Township were reserved by Public 
Land Order for the “Huachuca Forest Reserve.”   (Public Land Orders are 
documents issued by the Secretary of the Interior to make withdrawals, 
reservations or other designations of federal public lands) 
 
In 1907, the Huachuca Forest Reserve was renamed the “Huachuca National 



 
 

 
 

Forest” by another Public Land Order. 
 
In 1908, another Public Land Order made two more changes: 
- the Huachuca National Forest was renamed the Garces National Forest, and 
- the northern boundary of the newly named Garces National Forest was moved 
two miles southward to release two tiers of sections (Sections 13 - 24) in T 21 S, 
R 18 E for entry and settlement under the Homestead Act and other federal 
public land disposal laws. 
 
In 1910, another Public Land Order renamed the Garces National Forest as the 
Coronado National Forest, the name that continues to this day. 
 
 
Homesteaders Get Federal Lands for Homes and Ranches (1915 - 1925) 
The release of Sections 13 - 24 from the National Forest in 1908, and the 
approval of the survey of fractional T 21 S, R 18 E in 1914, opened the door for 
the filing of homestead “claims” by private citizens and “selections” of Trust lands 
by the State of Arizona.  Most of the land which is now in the Research Ranch 
was transferred out of federal ownership during the 1915 - 1925 period. 
  
Many of the homesteaders were already there when the federal lands were 
surveyed in 1912.  The township survey plat, Attachment 1, shows the locations 
of the “T. B. Titus House” and the “Fenderson House” in Section 22, and the 
“Wm. Roth House” in Section 23.   
 
Congress had passed the Homestead Act of 1862 to encourage the settlement 
and agricultural development of the West.  The Act enabled citizens to acquire 
the federal public domain lands through a process of creating farms and building 
homes on the federal public domain lands.   In order to obtain a patent, the 
homesteader was required to: 
- settle on federal public domain land,  
- file papers in the General Land Office to record their “entry” onto the land,  
- cultivate at least one-eighth of their homesteaded area,   
- live on the land for five years, 
- file their “Final Proof” papers with the General Land Office, and 
- pay $1.25 per acre for the land. 
 
A homesteader could acquire up to 320 acres under the Homestead Act.  The 
settlers in T 21 S, R 18 E filed their homestead papers with the General Land 
Office located in Tucson. 
 
In most cases, the homesteaders selected square or rectangular parcels of land 
in the sections that conformed to the surveys that had been established by the 
cadastral surveys.  However, there were exceptions where settlers claimed 
irregular shaped parcels that conformed to the local topography.  This usually 
happened when the settler had moved onto the federal land and staked out his 
boundaries before the land was surveyed by the federal government. 



 
 

 
 

 
This was the case in sections 22 and 27 where T. B. Titus was already living on 
the land when the federal surveyors arrived in 1912.   Later when he filed his 
homestead claim with the General Land Office, a special homestead entry survey 
had to be made to describe the lands he had “homesteaded”.  His Homestead 
Entry Survey 285, Attachment 5 , approved on July 12, 1917, included portions 
of Sections 22 and 27 in the creek bottoms near the junction of O’Donnell and 
Turkey Creeks.  Today, the Headquarters of the Research Ranch is located at 
the site of the T. B. Titus house as shown on the Fractional Township Plat 
(Attachment 1) and in the northwest corner of Homestead Entry Survey 285 
(Attachment 5). 
 
Unfortunately, back in 1917, there may have been a land ownership dispute 
between neighbors here.  The HES 285 survey was made in December 1914, 
but the survey was not approved by the U. S. Surveyor General’s Office until July 
12, 1917.  At that time it was discovered that HES 285 overlaid the south end of 
the East 1/2 of Section 22, which was occupied by, and patented to, Mr. Titus’s 
neighbor, Frances Cuthbert Fenderson.    
 
Mr. Fenderson was the first homesteader in the area to file a Homestead 
application with the General Land Office, and his patent to the 320 acres in the 
East Half of Section 22 was issued in 1916.  A year later, when Mr. Titus’s 
Homestead Entry Survey 285 was approved, it included about 20 acres at the 
southern end of Section 22 which had already been patented to Mr. Fenderson.   
 
Mr. Titus’ homestead claim prevailed.  The General Land Office canceled Mr. 
Fenderson’s patent to the 320 acres in the E ½ of Section 22, and issued a 
corrective patent, Attachment 6, to Mr. Fenderson on July 8, 1921, for the 
remaining 297.82 acres in the E ½ of Section 22.  On March 20, 1922, Mr. Titus 
received his patent, Attachment 7, for the entire 159.96 acres in HES 285.   
 
 
Most of the private lands in Sections 14, 15, 22 and 23 (in the center of the 
Research Ranch area) were settled and acquired under the provisions of the 
Homestead Act during the 1915 - 1925 era.   These Homestead Patents 
conveyed both the surface and mineral estates to the homesteader.  The federal 
government retained only the right to build ditches and canals across the land if 
and when needed for conveying irrigation waters to other properties in the area.  
This “ditches and canals” reservation is indicated by the “D/C” notation on the 
parcels shown on the MTP, Attachment 2.   
 
In 1916, Congress passed an amendment to the Homestead Act that was 
entitled the Stock Raising Homestead Act.  It was designed to enable ranchers to 
acquire land for barns, corrals and other ranch headquarters facilities without 
having to put the land into cultivation as was required by the original Homestead 
Act of 1862.   
 



 
 

 
 

Since Congress did not want to interfere with mineral development in the West, 
and since ranching and mining were considered to be usually compatible uses, 
the Stock Raising Homestead Act of 1916 provided that only the  surface estate 
would be conveyed in a Stock Raising Homestead Act patent.  The federal 
mineral estate would remain in federal ownership and would continue to be 
available for mineral exploration and development under the Mining Law of 1872 
and the various federal mineral leasing laws.  To help resolve potential conflicts, 
the Stock Raising Homestead Act spelled out the procedures for how the “miner” 
would compensate the surface owner for damages to crops and improvements. 
 
Several Stock Raising Homestead patents were issued in the Research Ranch 
area.  The south half of Section 23 of T 21 S, R 18 E was patented in 1924 under 
the Stock Raising Homestead Act.  The “All Min” on the MTP means that  the 
mineral estate on this private land is owned by the federal government.    This 
half section of private land remained open and available for the filing of mining 
claims and mineral development under the 1872 Mining Law for 76 years until 
December 6, 2000.  On that date, the Congress passed the law that  established 
the Las Cienegas National Conservation Area and closed this federally owned 
subsurface estate to mineral entry. 
 
Two other 40 acre parcels within the Research Ranch boundary - Lot 4 of 
Section 14, and the NE¼SE¼ of Section 15 - were also patented under the 
Stock Raising Homestead Act. 
 
Most of the private lands in the Research Ranch area were patented under the 
Homestead Acts.  Several other private land parcels were patented by land 
exchanges and public sales as described later in this report. 
 
 
 
Federal Land Patents to Settlers 
The following is a list of the federal land patents granted to settlers in T 21 S, R 
18 E,.  The locations of the land parcels are indicated by the patent numbers on 
the Master Title Plats, Attachments 3 and 4. 
 
Section 14 
Homestead Patent No. 803174 to James L. Finley on April 14, 1921. 
 
Stock Raising Homestead Patent No. 803175 to James L. Finley on April 14, 
1921. 
 
Section 15 
Homestead Patent No. 684794 to Juan Telles on March 20, 1922, also includes 
lands in Sections 14 and 23. 
 
Section 22 
Corrective Homestead Patent No. 813897 to Francis Cuthbert Fenderson on July 



 
 

 
 

18, 1921. 
 
Homestead Patent No. 855360 to Thaddeus B. Titus on March 20, 1922 also 
includes land in Section 27. 
 
Public Sale Patent No. 1215504 to Francis Henry Appleton on December 19, 
1960 which conveyed two tiny parcels of land (Lots 4 and 5) adjacent to 
Homestead Patent No 855360. 
 
Section 23 
Stock Raising Homestead Patent No. 931438 to Willard T. Roath on February 9, 
1924. 
 
Sections 27 and 28 
Land Exchange Patent 02-62-0119 to Frank Appleton on June 12, 1962. 
 
Section 28 
Homestead Patent No. 922250 to John D. Riggs on October 1, 1923. 
 
 
The State Selects the Federal Grazing Lands (1912 - 1923) 
During the first 10 years after Statehood, the Arizona State Land Department 
acquired about 3000 acres of land in T 21 S, R 18 E for the State School and 
County Bond Trusts.   
  
The Arizona Statehood Act of February 14, 1912, gave the State of Arizona title 
to all ”unreserved” Sections 2, 16, 32, and 36 in each township for “school 
sections” which were to be held in Trust by the State and leased or sold to raise 
funds for support of a public school system in the State.  Therefore, title to 
Section 16, in the northwest corner of the Research Ranch area, automatically 
passed to the State on November 14, 1914, the date that the cadastral survey of 
Fractional Township T 21 S, R 18 E, was approved.   
 
Section 2 in T 22 S, R 18 E at the south end of the Research Ranch did not pass 
to the State as a “school section“ because it was “reserved” in the Coronado 
National Forest.  The State was later able to select another 640 acres of public 
domain lands elsewhere in Arizona “in lieu” of this “school section”. 
 
In addition to the “school sections”, the Statehood Act also gave the State the 
right to select over 2 million acres of federal public domain lands for the benefit of 
fourteen Institutional Grants for universities, penal institutions, hospitals and 
other public institutions and to pay off County Bonds.  The lands in these 
Institutional Grants were also to be held in Trust and leased or sold to raise funds 
for the named institutional beneficiaries.   
 
The school sections were “in place” grants of designated sections and the School 
Trust lands in 2, 16, 32 and 36 are located where the land surveys placed them.  



 
 

 
 

The Institutional Grants were “acreage grants” that the State used to select the 
best available public domain land.   
 
An excerpt from the 1988-1989 Annual Report of the Arizona State Land 
Department is included as Attachment 8.   It describes, in more detail, the ways 
that the State Land Department acquired its State Trust lands. 
 
During the 1917 - 1923 period the Arizona State Land Department made a series 
of “selections” of public domain lands in T 21 S, R 18 E for part of its County 
Bond Grant.  The homesteaders had already taken the federal lands with the 
greatest agricultural potential, so the State focused on selecting the best grazing 
lands available with the intention of leasing them to the homesteaders and 
ranchers in the area.  The State selected about 2300 acres in Sections 14, 15, 
17, 20, 21, 22 and 23 for the County Bond Grant and leased them for livestock 
grazing purposes.  
 
The homesteaders/ranchers had probably requested the Arizona State Land 
Department to make these Trust land “selections”, because they wanted to get 
State grazing leases on these lands.  Prior to 1934, the General Land Office had 
no authority to lease the federal public domain lands for livestock grazing, thus 
ranchers and homesteaders competed in “range wars“ over grazing on the 
federal lands.  Ranchers throughout Arizona were begging the State Land 
Department to use its Trust Land selection rights to select “their” federal grazing 
areas, so they could have the security of a State Grazing Lease for their ranching 
operations. 
 
The chaos associated with livestock grazing on the federal public domain land 
lasted until Congress passed the Taylor Grazing Act (TGA) in 1934.   The TGA 
authorized federal grazing leases, and established Advisory Boards composed of 
ranchers to designate grazing allotments and allocate livestock grazing use of 
the public domain lands.   However, by 1934, the Arizona State Land Department 
had selected most of the best public domain grazing lands in Arizona, including 
those in the T 21 S, R 18 E. 
 
The State Land Department was a major land owner in T 21 S, R 18 E for over 
60 years.  In 1986, the State’s County Bond Trust lands, along with the School 
Trust lands in Section 16, were re-conveyed back to the BLM in a land exchange 
that is described later in this report 
 
 
Land Sales by the State Land Department and the BLM  
On February 17, 1943, the State Land Department sold two parcels of their 
County Bond Trust lands in T 21 S, R 18 E - a 40 acre parcel, the SE¼NW¼ of 
Section 23, and a 320 acre parcel, the E ½ of Section 17. 
 
The 40 acre parcel was sold to Willard T. Roath.    Attachment 9 is a copy of the 
State’s patent to Mr. Roath.  The U. S. Geological Survey topographic map of 



 
 

 
 

this area shows a “water tank” on the SE¼NW¼ of Section 23, so presumably 
Mr. Roath wanted a more secure title to this 40 acre parcel than was provided by 
the State Grazing lease which he probably had on the land.    
 
The “Willard T. Roath” who received both this State Land Department patent and 
the federal General Land Office Homestead Patent in 1924, probably was the 
“Wm. Roth” whose house was noted in Section 23 on the 1914 cadastral survey 
plat.  The federal cadastral surveyors usually did a remarkable job of recording a 
huge amount of data and information under difficult field circumstances.  They 
probably met homesteader “Bill” Roath” during the survey, and recorded it as 
“Wm. Roth” on the survey plat.  
 
In 1960, the BLM sold two tiny slivers of federal land totaling 3.29 acres (Lots 4 
and 5 in Section 22) to Francis Henry Appleton.  These two small Lots were 
“isolated parcels” of federal land along the borders of patented Homestead Entry 
Survey 285.  The federal public sale regulations in the 1960s gave an “adjacent 
land owner” a preference right to purchase isolated parcels of public domain 
lands.  Both the BLM and Mr. Appleton were probably pleased to have these two 
tiny “islands” of federal land added to Mr. Appleton’s adjacent private land. 
 
 
The Forest Service Trades National Forest Lands to Frank Appleton (1962) 
In 1962, Frank Appleton made a land exchange with the Forest Service to 
acquire 1,076 acres of Coronado National Forest lands in Sections 27 and 28.    
 
The Forest Service has a special land exchange law that gives the agency the 
authority to make land exchanges for the benefit of National Forest management 
programs.  In most cases the Forest Service trades federal National Forest lands 
on the boundaries of National Forests for private land parcels located in the 
interior areas of the National Forests.  During the 1960 - 1980 era, the Forest 
Service conducted an active land exchange program in Arizona to “block up“ the 
National Forest lands.   
 
Many of these land exchanges were so-called “third party exchanges”.   They 
involved three parties - a party who owned private land which the Forest Service 
wanted to acquire, a party who wanted a piece of National Forest Land which the 
Forest Service was willing to give up, and the Forest Service.  The Forest 
Service would bring the other two parties together to make the land exchange 
happen.   The “third party” who wanted to acquire National Forest lands would 
buy the private land that the Forest Service wanted to acquire, and then that 
“third party” would trade his newly purchased land to the Forest Service for the 
National Forest land he wanted to acquire.  The land exchanges were based on 
private and federal lands of equal value. 
 
Frank Appleton was a “third party” in 1962, who purchased some private land in 
the Kaibab National Forest in northern Arizona and traded it for 1,076 acres of 
Coronado National Forest land in Sections 27and 28, T 21 S, R 18 E.   



 
 

 
 

 
Attachment 10  is a copy of Patent No. 02-62-0119 dated June 12, 1962.  It 
states that “Frank Appleton, being the owner of a certain tract of land situated 
and included within the limits of the Kaibab National Forest, Arizona, has ….re-
conveyed and relinquished the said tract to the United States…. and has 
selected in lieu thereof the following described land:”…. in Sections 27 and 28.   
 
These lands in Sections 27 and 28, along with Mr. Appleton’s other lands in the 
area, became a part of the “Research Ranch” which he established in 1969.  In 
1980, the National Audubon Society assumed management of the Research 
Ranch. 
 
In 1987, the “third party” exchange process was used again to convey about 800 
acres of the land in Sections 27 and 28 back to the federal government. This time 
the land was transferred to the Bureau of Land Management.   The Talley Realty 
Development, Inc. was the “third party” which facilitated the land exchange 
between Mr. Appleton and the BLM. 
 
 
The Forest Service Withdraws Lands for Research Purposes  (1975) 
The federal lands in the Coronado National Forest are not subject to settlement 
or sale, but National Forest lands are open to mineral exploration and 
development under the authorities granted by the Mining Law of 1872.  However, 
most of the National Forest lands within the Research Ranch boundaries have 
been closed to mining claim location since 1975.   
 
Public Land Order 5835, issued on October 28, 1975, withdrew 355 acres of 
National Forest lands in Section 26 for a “Research Natural Area” and closed the 
lands to mining claim location.  The outline of this withdrawn area is shown on 
Attachment 3, the Master Title Plat of T 21 S, R 18 E. 
 
A second Public Land Order 7031, issued February 28, 1994, expanded the 
withdrawal to cover 2,442 acres of National Forest Lands on the east and south 
borders of the Research Ranch area.  The boundaries of the expanded PLO 
7031 withdrawal are also shown on the MTP of T 21 S, R 18 E.  This Public Land 
Order also included other Coronado National Forest Lands in the Parker Canyon 
Lake Recreation Complex and the Carr Barn Administrative Site.   Attachment 
11 is a copy of the March 10 , 1994, Federal Register Notice of this withdrawal. 
 
Public Land Order 7031 said that the withdrawal would expire in 20 years, unless 
extended.  The BLM public land records indicate that an extension was approved 
in 2006.   
 
 
The State Trades its Trust Lands to the BLM (1986) 
In the 1980s, the BLM began an aggressive program of managing 
environmentally sensitive federal public lands in Arizona.  This included making 



 
 

 
 

land exchanges to acquire non-federal lands with environmental or other public 
values that should be protected in public ownership.  In southern Arizona, the 
BLM took special measures to protect the federal lands in places like Aravaipa 
Canyon, Baboquavari Peak, and the Muleshoe Ranch.   BLM also made land 
exchanges to acquire private lands in Las Cienegas Ranch near Sonoita, and 
State Trust lands in the Research Ranch area. 
 
In 1984, the Arizona State Legislature funded a statewide State-Federal Land 
Exchange Program.  The objective was to rearrange intermingled State Trust 
lands and federal BLM lands to: 
- facilitate land management activities of both the State Land Department and the 
BLM;  
-to relocate state Trust lands nearer to urban areas to increase their income 
potential; and  
- to move State Trust lands with environmental values into federal public 
ownership. 
 
The “Research Ranch” exchange was one of the first exchanges made in this 
Federal - State Land Exchange Program.  The State traded 2342 acres of 
County Bond and School Trust lands in T 21 S, R 18 E to the BLM in exchange 
for BLM lands located in the San Pedro Valley between Benson and Winkelman.   
 
Attachment 12 is a copy of the August 11, 1986 letter and Deed of 
Reconveyance from the State Land Department which explains that the 2342 
acres were being relinquished to the BLM so that they “could be managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and the National Audubon Society in a manner to 
protect and utilize their public values.” 
 
Basically, in 1986, the State Land Department returned to the BLM all of the 
State School Trust and County Bond lands that the State had acquired from the 
federal government in the 1912 - 1923 period.  The only lands not returned to 
federal ownership were the 40 acre parcel in Section 23 which the State Land 
Department had sold to Willard T. Roath in 1943, and  the 320 acres which the 
State had sold in the E½ of Section 17. 
 
 
Frank Appleton “Sells” Land to the BLM (1987) 
Shortly after the BLM “reacquired” the State Trust land in the Research Ranch 
area, Frank Appelton decided to sell his private land in Sections 27 and 28.  
These were the lands that he had acquired in the 1962 “third party” land 
exchange with the Forest Service.  In 1962, Mr. Appleton had been the “third 
party” who put up the money to buy the private lands in the Kaibab National 
Forest that he used to trade to the Forest Service for the National Forest lands in 
Sections 27 and 28.   
 
When Mr. Appleton wanted to sell these lands in 1987, the BLM found another 
“third party” to purchase the lands Mr. Appleton wanted to sell.  That “third party“, 



 
 

 
 

the Talley Realty Development, Inc, then traded these Research Ranch area 
lands to BLM in exchange for BLM lands in Maricopa County north of Phoenix.   
Attachment 13  is a copy of the December 2, 1987 Warranty Deed from Talley 
Realty Development, Inc. to the United States of America, which transferred the 
former Appleton lands to the BLM. 
 
In this exchange, BLM acquired about 800 acres in Sections 27 and 28.  These 
800 acres are designated as “(see remarks)” on the MTP, Attachment 2.  The 
Appletons retained two triangular parcels in Section 28 that are designated by 
the “02-62-0119” number of the original 1962 National Forest land exchange 
patent. 
 
 
National Audubon Society Agreements with Federal Agencies (1982 and 
1986) 
In 1982, the National Audubon Society and the U. S. Forest Service signed a 
Memorandum of Agreement “to cooperate in studies to encourage research on 
factors related to maintaining and improving management of Southwestern 
desert grasslands and to maintain the established Elgin Research Natural Area”.  
That Memorandum of Agreement is included with this report as Attachment 14. 
 
In 1986, the  National Audubon Society and the U. S. Bureau of Land 
Management signed a Cooperative Agreement “to provide for cooperative 
management between the Bureau of Land Management and the National 
Audubon Society for the management of public lands within the Appleton-Whittell 
Biological Research Sanctuary (The Research Ranch)”.  That Cooperative 
Agreement is included with this report as Attachment 15 . 
 
 
BLM Establishes the Appleton-Whittell Area of Critical Environmental 
Concern (1988) 
The BLM has the authority to designate and name sites and areas which have 
special environmental or cultural values that need to be protected.  Giving sites 
and area an identity is a powerful tool to use in generating support for protection 
of the public values on the designated lands.   One of the designations that BLM 
has commonly used is “Area of Critical Environmental Concern”.   
 
In 1988, shortly after BLM had acquired the State Trust lands and the Appleton 
lands in the Research Ranch complex, the BLM administratively designated 
these newly acquired 3141 acres of public land as the “Appleton-Whittell Area of 
Critical Environmental Concern”.   The objective was to help protect the public 
land portion of the National Audubon Society’s 8000 acre Appleton-Whittell 
Biological Research Sanctuary (Research Ranch). 
 
 
Congress Establishes the Las Cienegas National Conservation Area (2000) 
On December 8, 2000, Congress passed Public Law 106-538 which established 



 
 

 
 

the Las Cienegas National Conservation Area on the BLM administered lands 
that the BLM had acquired through land exchanges in the Las Cienegas Ranch 
and Research Ranch areas.  
 
Public Law 106-538 states that the Las Cienegas National Conservation Area is 
established “In order to conserve, protect and enhance for the benefit and 
enjoyment of present and future generations the unique and nationally important 
aquatic, wildlife, vegetative, archeological, paleontological, scientific, cave, 
cultural, historical, recreational, educational, scenic, rangeland, and riparian 
resources and values of the public lands described in subsection (b) while 
allowing livestock grazing and recreation to continue in appropriate areas,…” 
 
Subsection B says that the Conservation Area “shall consist of approximately 
42,000 acres of public lands in Pima and Santa Cruz Counties as generally 
depicted on the October 2, 2000 maps of the Sonoita Valley Acquisition Planning 
District and Las Cienegas National Conservation Area”.   
 
 
BLM’s Las Cienegas Resource Management Plan  (2003) 
In the BLM’s “Las Cienegas Resource Management Plan and Record of 
Decision” that was issued July 2003, the Appleton-Whittell ACEC was renamed 
the Appleton-Whittell Research Area of Critical Environmental Concern.  It is 
described as a being “part of a unique laboratory for studying the effects of non-
grazing on a desert grassland”.  The BLM’s management objectives for the BLM 
public land portion of the “Research Ranch” are stated as: 
- Designate an ACEC 
- Limit motorized vehicles to designated roads and trails 
- Prohibit land use action except as authorized by Research Ranch 
- Do not open to mineral location, leases or sales 
- Implement the 1986 BLM National Audubon Society MOU 
- Prohibit surface occupancy for oil/gas lease development 
 
The Research Ranch provides a valuable ecosystem research component to the 
management of Las Cienegas National Conservation Area (NCA).  The 
Research Ranch has nearly 40 years of research data and analyses of the 
impacts of livestock grazing on a 8000 acre block of private, BLM and National 
Forest lands in this “corner” of the Las Cienegas National Conservation Area.  
Attachment 16  is a list of the “science projects” being worked on at the 
Appleton-Whittell Research Ranch, and publications associated with the 
Research Ranch during 2006/2007.  The National Audubon Society’s 
cooperative rangeland research program at the “Research Ranch” continues to 
be a major asset to the programs of the Las Cienegas National Conservation 
Area. 

 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

List of Attachments 
 
Attachment  1 Survey Plat of Fractional Township 21 South, Range 18 East 
 
Attachment  2 Map Showing the Boundaries of the Appleton-Whittell   
  Research Ranch 
 
Attachment  3 BLM Master Title Plat (MTP) of T 21 S, R 18 E 
 
Attachment  4 BLM Master Title Plat of Section 27 in T 21 S, R 18 E 
 
Attachment  5 Plat of Homestead Entry Survey 285 
 
Attachment  6 Federal Land Patent to Frances C. Fenderson 
 
Attachment  7 Federal Land Patent to T. B. Titus 
 
Attachment  8 Description of State Trust Lands and Beneficiaries 
 
Attachment  9 State Land Patent to Willard T. Roath 
 
Attachment 10 National Forest Land Exchange Patent to Frank Appleton 
 
Attachment 11 Public Land Order Withdrawing National Forest Lands for  
    Research Purposes 
Attachment 12 State Deed Which Relinquished the Trust Lands to BLM 
 
Attachment 13 Warrenty Deed Transferring the “Appleton” Lands to BLM 
 
Attachment 14  Forest Service - National Audubon Society Memorandum of  
     Agreement 
Attachment 15 BLM - National Audubon Society Cooperative Agreement 
 
Attachment 16 Science Projects and Publications on Appleton-Whittell  
    Research Ranch in 2006/2007 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
 

 




